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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
This has been a mixed year marked by significant achievement but marred by delays and frustrations be‐
yond our control.
Although the Scoping Study completed in April 2013 showed sufficient encouragement for the Charley
Creek REE project to undertake a final feasibility study for an alluvial mining, processing and refinery opera‐
tion to produce rare earth carbonates, uranium and zircon products, we have been unable to raise the
funds necessary for this study. The climate for fundraising has not been helped by continued softness in ra‐
re earth oxide prices due to lack of market, although the medium to longer term outlook remains positive.
A further difficulty has been the decision in January 2014 by Crossland’s Joint Venture partner Pancontinen‐
tal Uranium Corp to cease contributing and suffer further dilution of their 45% interest in the joint venture
and the Charley Creek Project. In addition, some $350,000 remains due to Crossland from exploration ac‐
tivities carried for Pancontinental. Crossland’s demands for repayment of this debt have not been met.
The appointment of Mr Sia Hok Kiang to the Crossland Board in August 2013 and the investment of $1.2
million by his Malaysian Company, HK Rare Earths Sdn. Bhd., was a very positive outcome for Crossland. As
an economic geologist with more than 30 years world‐wide experience, and extensive experience in bulk al‐
luvial mining in Malaysia, including the extraction of the rare earth minerals xenotime and monazite as by‐
products of tin mining, he is bringing very valuable technical input and business acumen to Crossland.
Pending the availability of adequate funds for ongoing feasibility work, and resolution of the amounts owed
by Pancontinental, all work on Charley Creek project was put on hold in January 2014.
Despite these difficulties, Crossland remains positive about the potential of the project and has been at
pains to ensure that the Charley Creek assets are maintained and protected. During the year a considera‐
ble amount of important work has been completed including environmental baseline studies and the first
stage of a drill programme consisting of 119 aircore holes to identify sites where optimal start‐up pits could
be located.
In conclusion I would like to acknowledge the continued support and dedication of my fellow Directors, and
our team of management, staff and consultants who have worked tirelessly and at times under considera‐
ble pressure through this period of uncertainty. One thing we are certain of is the potential value of our
flagship Charley Creek project and our vision for its future as a long term producer of rare earth, uranium
and zircon products.

Bob Richardson
Chairman
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
INTRODUCTION
During the year the Company reached a significant milestone in its evolution with the release of its
Scoping Study on the Charley Creek Alluvial Rare Earths Project in Central Australia. The Scoping
Study confirmed that Charley Creek is a promising opportunity for decades of low‐risk REE
production sourced from shallow, easily mined alluvium. Highlights of the scoping study, released on
15th April 2013 are:















Low capital cost requirement of A$156 million including contingency and project infrastruc‐
ture with a payback of 2.5 years after commencing production.
The project is based upon a life‐of mine (LoM) of 20 years, with a drilled resource based upon
around 1% of the area with exploration potential. Low cost, rapid Resource expansion is pos‐
sible.
Average annual revenue¹ of A$154 million at 3,645 tonnes equivalent total rare earth oxide
(TREO) production as mixed REE carbonate product.
Low cost alluvial sand mining operation with around 1% overburden and potentially miner‐
alised alluvium to depths of up to 80 metres, with an average drilled mineralised depth of
15m.
Charley Creek concentrate product comprises 18% Heavy rare earth oxides (HREO) including
yttrium. HREO are the rare earth elements in shortest supply.
Beneficiation process plant is low risk and technologically straightforward, similar to heavy
mineral sand operations, utilising physical, not chemical separation technologies.
Beneficiation flowsheet has been piloted using a bulk composite sample from several widely
spaced trench samples.
The mineral concentrate feed to the REO Refinery contains 40% w/w rare earth oxides.
By‐product zircon will be produced but its value is not considered in the Scoping Study.
Simple REO Refinery flowsheet using sulphuric acid roast followed by water leach with >95%
REE extraction.
Product is a high purity mixed rare earth carbonate free of radio‐nuclides.
A small amount of uranium by‐product will be produced and sold. Thorium disposal will use
recognised best practices.
The Project is located in the Northern Territory, where mining of radioactive materials has
been under way for the past 60 years.
A regulatory regime is in place that can oversee permitting of projects like Charley Creek.

This Study produced capital and operating cost estimates for all of the major facets of the Charley
Creek Project including mining operations, wet and dry plant mineral concentration facilities, REO
refinery, infrastructure, and water supply. The study assumes construction of a wet and dry mineral
concentrator to produce a high grade (40%+) TREO concentrate followed by onsite refining to
remove uranium, thorium and major gangue elements to yield a high purity mixed rare earth
carbonate product. The relative simplicity and low capital cost of the project compared with most
other REE projects provides Crossland with optimism that the project will be attractive to investors
desiring access to a strategic long term source of REE.
The potential in Charley Creek and other Crossland tenements for other commodities including
uranium, and base and precious metals has not diminished; however the necessity to dedicate all
resources to the Charley Creek REE project in a tough market has sidelined these targets for the time‐
being.
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The operations of the Company are described in detail in the quarterly operations reports to ASX.
This annual report summarises the information contained in the quarterly reports and on the com‐
pany’s website, which is kept current with the most recent announcements and reports. This can be
accessed at www.crosslandstrategic.com.
CHARLEY CREEK REE PROJECT

Charley Creek Project, NT ‐ ELs24281, 25230, 25657 (WDJV, Earning 60%), ELs27283, 27284, 27358,
27359, 28154, 28155, 28224, 28226, 28434, 28795, 28796, 28866, 28875, 28964, 28965, 29789, and 29853 and
ELA30058: Crossland 55%: Pancontinental 45 % (diluting)
At the Charley Creek Project, Crossland is targeting alluvial rare earth deposits; secondary targets include bedrock REE de‐
posits, granite‐related uranium; calcrete and redox‐ related palaeodrainage uranium targets; and layered mafic intrusive‐
related copper, nickel and platinoids.

Subsequent to the release of the Scoping Study, Crossland developed plans to proceed to a
Feasibility Study with the aim to fast‐ track development of this tehnically relatively straightforward
project. As a first step in the Study, Crossland designed and implemented Phase1 of a drilling and
resource appraisal program intended to identify areas of higher grade alluvium to provide starter pits
for the project. This is to attempt to quantify the “Exploration Target” used in the Scoping Study, and
provide material to be used for preparation of heavy mineral concentrate for evaluation of the by‐
product non‐REE bearing heavy mineral potential (such as zircon rutile and ilmenite) which was not
quantified in the Scoping Study. Crossland was subsequently advised by Pancontinental that they
were unable to meet their commitments for the program, and wished to dilute on further programs
until further notice, due to an inability to raise funds in Canada. Currently this critical work is on hold
pending identification of a secure source of funding for the Feasibility Study.
Crossland completed other objectives at Charley Creek during the year, including an airborne
geophysical survey of the eastern portion of the project area, detailed stream sediment sampling to
characterise the various radiometric patterns generated by that survey, and an evaluation of the
potential for higher grades in shallow saprolite.

OTHER PROJECTS

Chilling Project, NT (ELs 24557, 25076, 25077: Crossland 55%, Pancontinental 45% (diluting))
At the Chilling Project, Crossland’s primary targets are unconformity–related uranium deposits, the deposit style that hosts
most of the world’s high grade uranium. Other target commodities exist, such as base metals, gold, tin, and cobalt. Other
uranium deposit styles are also possible.

At Chilling efforts to date to locate a partner have not yet been successful, and Crossland has been
forced to surrender titles as rents fall due. Efforts to locate funding partners will continue, as apart
from uranium, the commodity of primary interest at Chilling with currently poor market outlook,
there is good potential for gold in the remaining titles.

Mount Stafford, NT ELs28492, and 29758 and ELA29660,. (Crossland 55%: Pancontinental 45% (diluting))
The Mount Stafford Project covers a setting conducive for REE, uranium and gold deposits. The licence is situated approxi‐
mately 83 km northwest of Nolan’s Bore, the advanced rare earth deposit owned by Arafura Resources.

No work other than title maintenance occurred. Efforts to find a farm‐ in partner continued.
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Highland Rocks, NT (ELA’s 27374, 27375, 27571, 27572: Crossland 55%, Pancontinental 45% (diluting))
The Bloodwood Project was acquired to follow up favourable previous exploration for uranium, gold and base metals.

The applications at Highland Rocks have not been granted, but an offer to negotiate an access
agreement with CLC is expected.

Gypsum Cliffs, SA – ELs5277, 5278, and 5279 (Crossland 100%).
At Gypsum Cliffs, Crossland is targeting alluvial mineral sands deposits incorporating rare metal credits. This area is not in‐
cluded in the Joint Venture with Pancontinental.

The Exploration Licence package was granted in July 2013. An orientation program was undertaken
during the offer period and the results of this warranted follow‐ up. Crossland is seeking a funding
partner for this project.

Lake Woods, NT – SEL28199 and ELA30181: Crossland 100%
At Lake Woods, Crossland has identified an outcropping alkali basalt sill intruded around 1,300 million years ago. The intru‐
sion has unusual properties that may indicate the potential for commodities such as nickel, copper and platinoids. The area
has also shed microdiamonds and kimberlite indicator minerals and so has diamond potential. This area is not included in
the Joint Venture with Pancontinental.

A joint venture for this project was executed on 1 November 2013. The incoming party has been
granted 90% of the tenement and has committed to spend $105,000 in the first 12 months and
Crossland has a 10% interest free carried to a Decision to Mine. At Decision to Mine, CUX must elect
to participate in further expenditure with its 10% interest, or withdraw from the Joint Venture with
no further interest.
A detailed airborne magnetic survey was completed in early 2014 and targeting interpretation has
commenced.

Geoff Eupene
Exploration Director
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Targets, Exploration Results, or Mineral Resources is based on in‐
formation compiled by Geoffrey S Eupene FAusIMM CP, a Competent Person who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy. He is a director of the Company and a full time employee of Eupene Exploration Enterprises Pty Ltd,
which is engaged by the Company. He has sufficient experience which is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of
deposits under consideration, and to the activity which is being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in
the 2012 edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ (the
JORC Code). Geoffrey S Eupene has consented to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the
form and context in which it appears.
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Refer to cautionary statements regarding “Exploration Targets” in the 15th April 2013 release on the
Charley Creek Scoping Study.
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Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of
Crossland Strategic Metals Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of,
and during the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors Report
Directors
The following persons were Directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited during the whole of the finan‐
cial year and up to the date of this report:
Robert L Richardson
Geoffrey S Eupene
Sia Hok Kiang (Appointed 6 August 2013)
Peter W Walker
Malcolm K Smartt
Robert A Cleary (Resigned 24 February 2013)
Directors' qualifications and experience
Bob Richardson Non‐Executive Chairman
Bob Richardson, B.Sc, B.E(Hons), MAusIMM, MASEG, has 43 years experience in mineral exploration man‐
agement, geophysics and exploration technology. During 15 years with the Peko‐ Wallsend Group as Chief
Geophysicist and later Exploration Manager, he supervised all geophysical work carried out by Peko‐ Wall‐
send in the Alligator Rivers Uranium Province during the Ranger discovery and resource development pe‐
riod. During this period Bob and his team developed a leading‐ edge understanding of the application of
geophysical methods to uranium exploration. He was co‐ founder and Managing Director of Austirex Aerial
Surveys that became an international airborne geophysical contractor. He co‐ founded Lachlan Resources
NL in 1983, and PlatSearch NL in 1986.
Sia Hok Kiang, Non Executive Director
Mr Sia is Managing Director of the successful Malaysian private mining company, Malaco Mining Sdn. Bhd.
He is a graduate of the University of Malaya in Applied Geology, an economic geologist with more than 30
years world‐wide experience. He is an active member of the Malaysian Geological Society and a Council
Member of the Malaysian Chamber of Mines.
Mr Sia has a solid business reputation throughout Asia, with useful contacts in several Asian countries. He
has extensive experience in bulk alluvial mining in Malaysia, including the extraction of the rare earth min‐
erals xenotime and monazite as by‐ products of tin mining. Mr Sia’s experience is very appropriate for
Crossland’s Charley Creek Alluvial Rare Earth Project, which is also based on the extraction of monazite and
xenotime from alluvial material.
Geoff Eupene, Executive Director
Geoff Eupene, B.Sc(Hons), FAusIMM, CPGeo, is a Darwin‐ based geologist. Geoff spent the 1969 field sea‐
son, his first after graduation from the University of Queensland, looking for uranium in the East Kimberley.
In 1970 he joined Geopeko as they started their field work at Ranger. As Mine Geologist, he logged every
hole drilled into the Ranger No. 1 ore body, interpreted the geology, and developed a resource estimate
that agreed closely with the total material mined over the following decades.
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In 1976, he headed the team that discovered the Ranger 68 deposit beneath the Magela floodplains.
Geoff worked for Geopeko for over ten years before founding a consulting practice in Darwin in 1980. Eu‐
pene Exploration Enterprises Pty Ltd has provided advice and services to many uranium explorers, and as‐
sisted in the development of several other mining projects in the NT, including Mount Bonnie silver/ gold
deposit, Tanami gold, Goodall gold, Rustlers Roost gold, and Woodcutters base metal projects. Geoff has
also acquired a depth of experience in SE Asia.
Peter Walker Non‐Executive Director
Peter Walker, B.Juris, Ll.B, FAICD, is a Darwin based lawyer who has practised in the resource industry for
over 35 years. He has long experience with land access issues including the special situations that exist in
the Northern Territory. Peter acted for Peko EZ (a joint venture between Peko‐Wallsend Operations Limited
and Electrolytic Zinc Company of Australasia Limited) on permitting matters for the Ranger project, and for
Pancontinental Mining Limited, which discovered the Jabiluka deposit. He also assisted Uranerz Energy
Corporation and Power Reactor and Nuclear Fuel Development Corporation (PNC), and other explorers and
miners, with NT access and development matters. Peter has been a director of several companies including
Australian Diamond Exploration NL, which discovered and developed the Merlin diamond mine.
Mal Smartt – Finance Director/ Company Secretary
Mal Smartt, BA (Accounting), Grad Dip Corporate Management, FCPA, FCIS, FCIM is a Corporate Consultant
to listed and unlisted public companies. He is a qualified accountant and company secretary having had
considerable experience in Directorial, Financial and Company Secretarial roles with a number of listed
companies in the resource sector in Australia, South East Asia and Africa.
Principal activities
The principal activities of the consolidated entity are the exploration for uranium and rare earth elements
(REE) in the Northern Territory and economic hardrock gold deposits. There has been no change in the
principal activities during the year.
Results
The net result of operations after applicable income tax benefit of the consolidated entity for the year
ended 31 December 2013 was a loss of $1,952,504 (2012 – loss of $1,819,312).
Dividends
No dividends were either paid or declared for the year (2012 – nil).
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 De‐
cember 2013.
Review of operations
Information on the operation and financial position of the consolidated entity and its business strategies
and prospects are set out in the review of operations.
Significant changes in the state of affairs
With effect 16 November 2013, Pancontinental advised that they were forced to dilute rather than con‐
tribute and as at 31 December, the agreed equity is Crossland 55.63% and Pancontinental 44.37%.
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
On 26 March 2014, 20,000,000 shares were issues at 1 cent raising $200,000 to fund the company.
There were no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 31 December 2013 that have signifi‐
cantly affected or may significantly affect:
i.
the operations of the consolidated entity,
ii.
the results of those operations, or
iii.
the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in the financial year subsequent to 31 December
2013.
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Likely developments
The Company is hoping to identify precious and rare earth metals, uranium and base metal exploration and
evaluation opportunities which are perceived to offer outstanding value. At this stage, it is not possible to
postulate likely developments from any of these exploration activities. As the consolidated entity’s areas of
interest are at an early stage of exploration, it is not possible to postulate likely developments.
Directors' benefits
During the year no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other
than a benefit included in the notes to the accounts) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a re‐
lated corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he
has a substantial financial interest.
Share options
Particulars of options granted over unissued shares:
2013
2012
50,574,642 41,324,642
Total number of op‐
tions granted by the
Company over unis‐
sued ordinary shares
Nil
Options issued during 15,000,000
the period (see note
below)
Shares issued in the
Nil
Nil
period as the result of
the exercise of options
Options expired dur‐
5,750,000
Nil
ing the period
Full details of options on issue are shown in note 22.
Meetings of directors
Attendance at Directors’ meetings during the year:

R Richardson
G S Eupene
H K Sia
P Walker
R Cleary
M Smartt

Eligible to
attend
8
8
3
8
0

Attended

8

8

8
8
3
6
0

The Audit Committee, comprising Messrs Richardson, Walker and Smartt, which met twice during the year,
was set up to review the Company’s financial systems, accounting policies and annual financial statements.
Environment
Crossland Strategic Metals Limited, through its subsidiaries, holds exploration tenements in Australia that
are subject to various governmental statutes and guidelines for environmental impacts in relation to explo‐
ration activities. These provide for the satisfactory rehabilitation of the areas of exploration.
There have been no known material breaches of the licence conditions.
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Directors' and auditors' indemnification
The Company has not, either during or since the end of the financial period, in respect of any person who is
or has been an officer or auditor of the Company or a related body corporate, indemnified or made any rel‐
evant agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an officer, including costs and expenses in
successfully defending legal proceedings.
During or since the financial period, the Company has not paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a
contract insuring against a liability incurred as an officer for the costs or expenses to defend legal proceed‐
ings.
Non‐audit services
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties
where the auditor's expertise and experience with the company and/or the Group are important.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDJ Partners Audit Pty Limited) for non‐audit ser‐
vices provided during the year are set out in Note 8.
The board of directors, in accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, is satisfied that
the provision of the non‐audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for audi‐
tors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non‐audit ser‐
vices by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:


all non‐audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not adversely af‐
fect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor,



the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor in‐
dependence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Ac‐
counting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.

During the year no fees were paid or payable for non‐audit services provided by the auditor of the parent
entity, its related practices and non‐related audit firms.

Auditors’ independence declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 is set out on page 52.

Auditor
BDJ Partners Audit Pty Ltd holds office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001
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Remuneration Report (Audited)
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Service agreements
Details of remuneration
Share based compensation
Additional information

The information provided under headings A‐ D includes remuneration disclosures that are required under
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. These disclosures have been transferred from
the financial report and have been audited. The disclosures in Section E are additional disclosures required
by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001 which have not been audited.
A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance, being
the development of the Crossland Strategic Metals exploration tenements. The framework aligns ex‐
ecutive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders,
and conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward. The Board ensures that executive re‐
ward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:






competitiveness and reasonableness;
acceptability to shareholders;
performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation;
transparency; and
capital management.

The Group has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and com‐
plimentary to the reward strategy of the organisation.
Alignment to shareholders’ interests:




has economic profit as a core component of plan design;
focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share
price, and delivering constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non‐
financial drivers of value; and
attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Alignment to programme participants’ interests:





rewards capability and experience;
reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth;
provides a clear structure for earning rewards; and
provides recognition for contribution.

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long term incentives.
As executives gain seniority with the group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of ''at
risk'' rewards.
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Non‐executive directors
Fees and payments to non‐executive directors reflect the demands, which are made on, and the re‐
sponsibilities of, the directors. The Board reviews non‐executive directors’ fees and payments annual‐
ly. The Board may from time to time seek the advice of independent remuneration consultants to en‐
sure non‐executive directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The
Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of non‐executive directors based on com‐
parative roles in the external market. The Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to de‐
termination of his own remuneration.
Directors’ fees
The current base remuneration was last reviewed with effect from 1 July 2007.
Non‐executive directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is pe‐
riodically recommended for approval by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $200,000 per
year in aggregate.
Executive pay
The executive pay and reward framework has four components:
 base pay and benefits;
 short‐term performance incentives;
 long‐term incentives through participation in Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd incentive shares, and
 other remuneration such as superannuation.
The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration.
Base pay
Structured as a total employment cost package, which may be delivered as a combination of cash and
prescribed non‐financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and re‐
wards. Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competi‐
tive with the market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion.
There are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any senior executives’ contracts.
1.

Service Agreements

There are no service agreements in place.
2.

Non‐executive directors

Directors are entitled to remuneration out of the funds of the company but the remuneration of the
non‐executive Directors may not exceed in any year the amount fixed by the company in general
meeting for that purpose. Directors are also entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation
and other expenses incurred in consequence of their attendance at Board meetings and otherwise in
the execution of their duties as Directors.
B. Details of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures) of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd and the Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd Group
are set out in the following tables.
The key management personnel of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited and the Group includes the di‐
rectors.
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Remuneration paid to key management personnel of Crossland Strategic Metals and of the Group

2013

Name

Short‐term employee benefits

Post‐
employment
benefits

Share‐based
payments

Salary

Directors’
Fees

Consulting
Fees

Superannuation

Options

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

Non‐executive directors
R Cleary

‐

5,538

‐

‐

‐

5,538

R Richardson

‐

50,000

47,250

4,563

‐

101,813

P Walker

‐

35,000

‐

3,194

‐

38,194

14,429

‐

‐

‐

104,967

47,250

7,757

‐

159,974

Executive directors
G S Eupene
MK Smartt

‐
142,500

‐
‐

226,500
‐

‐
13,025

‐

226,500
155,525

Totals

142,500

104,967

273,750

20,782

‐

541,999

Sia Hok Kiang
Sub‐total non‐‐
executive directors

2012

Short‐term employee benefits

Name

Salary

Directors’
Fees

$

$

14,429

Post‐
employment
benefits

Share‐based
payments

Consulting
Fees

Superannuation

Options

Total

$

$

$

$

Non‐executive directors
P J D Elliott

‐

15,000

‐

‐

‐

15,000

R Cleary

‐

38,750

‐

‐

‐

38,750

R Richardson

‐

46,250

65,866

4,163

‐

116,279

35,000

‐

3,150

‐

135,000

65,866

7,313

‐

208,179

Executive directors
G S Eupene
MK Smartt

‐
75,000

‐
‐

262,000
‐

‐
6,750

‐

262,000
81,750

Totals

75,000

135,000

327,866

14,063

‐

551,929

P Walker
Sub‐total non‐‐
executive directors

38,150
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Share‐based compensation
Options
Options are granted on the recommendation of the directors.
Options are granted for no consideration. Options are granted for a five year period, and are exercisa‐
ble immediately after the vesting date.
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.
When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.
The exercise price of options is based on the weighted average price at which the company’s shares
are traded on the Australian Stock Exchange during the five trading days immediately before the op‐
tions are granted.
No options over ordinary shares in the company were provided as remuneration to each director of
Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd and each of the key management personnel of the Group during the
financial year.
Shares provided on exercise of remuneration options.
No ordinary shares in the company were provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options
to each director of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd and other key management personnel of the Group.
Shares under option
Unissued ordinary shares of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd under option at the date of this report are
shown in Note 22.
Shares issued on the exercise of options
No ordinary shares of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd were issued during the year ended 31 December
2013 on the exercise of options granted. No further shares have been issued since that date. No
amounts are unpaid on any of the shares
Directors’ interests in shares and options
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at the date of this report is as
follows:
2013

GS Eupene

Ordinary shares

Sia Hok Kiang

P Walker

R Richardson

9,258,492

1,450,000

40,000,000

2,874,899

1,349,889

4,629,245
G Eupene

1,000,000
M Smartt

10,000,000
R Cleary

1,089,741
P Walker

522,619
R Richardson

9,258,492

1,000,000

5,892,326

2,874,219

1,045,238

4,629,245
1,200,000
‐
the unissued incentive shares lapsed during 2012

1,089,741

522,619

Options
2012
Ordinary shares
Options
Notes –

M Smartt

‐

shares and options issued to Mr Sia were part of a placement at 3 cents per share before his
appointment as a Director.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Geoff Eupene, Director
Darwin, 27 March 2014
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Crossland Strategic Metals Limited

ABN 64 087 595 980

Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2013
Note
Revenue

5

2013
$

2012
$

10,638

78,927

(270,434)

(330,355)

(2,640)

(446)

(130,331)

(145,228)

(80,601)

(104,389)

( 333,952)

(422,305)

Expenses
Administration costs
Borrowing Costs

6

Consultants’ fees
Depreciation

6

Employment costs
Exploration expenditure written off

6

(1,336,671)

(1,040,767)

Office rent

6

(82,182)

(116,953)

Share of associates losses

17

Other expenses from ordinary activities
Loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Income tax (expense) benefit

11

Net loss from ordinary activities after income tax expense

‐

‐

( 35,128)

(42,906)

(2,261,301)

(2,124,422)

308,797

366,116

(1,952,504)

(1,758,306)

Other comprehensive income after income tax:
Exchange differences on translating foreign controlled entities

‐

(61,006)

Other comprehensive income for the year, before tax

‐

(61,006)

Income tax (expense) benefit

‐

‐

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

‐

(61,006)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
members of the parent entity
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)

23

25

10

(1,952,504)

(1,819,312)

(1.12)

(1.15)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Crossland Strategic Metals Limited

ABN 64 087 595 980

Statement of Financial Position
at 31 December 2013
Note

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$

Cash and cash equivalents

12

378,795

1,085,639

Trade and other receivables

13

428,429

101,548

Other current assets

14

15,849

19,464

823,073

1,206,651

CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON‐CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables

15

116,738

118,888

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure

16

5,296,595

5,321,126

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity
method

17

‐

‐

Plant and equipment

18

61,762

135,222

TOTAL NON‐CURRENT ASSETS

5,475,095

5,575,236

TOTAL ASSETS

6,298,168

6,781,887

286,819

329,789

286,819

329,789

53,923

60,017

53,923

60,017

340,742

389,806

5,957,426

6,392,081

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

19

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON‐CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

20

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Issued capital

21

Foreign currency translation reserve

23

‐

Share based payments reserve

24

343,790

Accumulated losses

25

TOTAL EQUITY

18,362,386 16,851,191
‐
337,136

(12,748,750) (10,796,246)
5,957,426

6,392,081

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Crossland Strategic Metals Limited

ABN 64 087 595 980

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2013
Consolidated

Issued Capital

Accumulated
Losses

$

$

Share Based
Payments
Reserve
$

Foreign
Currency
Reserve
$

Total
Equity
$

At 1 January 2012

15,698,286

(8,976,934)

(61,006)

337,136

6,997,482

Loss for the period

‐

(1,758,306)

‐

‐

(1,758,306)

Shares issued (net of costs)

865,608

‐

‐

‐

865,608

Option issued (Rights Issue)

287,297

‐

‐

‐

287,297

‐

(61,006)

61,006

‐

‐

16,851,191

(10,796,246)

‐

337,136

6,392,081

‐

(1,952,504)

‐

‐

(1,952,504)

Shares issued (net of costs)

1,511,195

‐

‐

‐

1,511,195

Option issued (Rights Issue)

‐

‐

‐

6,654

6,654

Other comprehensive income

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

18,362,386

(12,748,750)

‐

343,790

5,957,426

Other comprehensive income
At 31 December 2012
Loss for the period

At 31 December 2013

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Crossland Strategic Metals Limited

ABN 64 087 595 980

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2013

Note

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment to suppliers (inclusive of GST)
Interest received
Interest paid
Other income
R & D Tax Offset Rebate received

(1,217,702)
9,209
(2,640)
1,429
308,797

(964,301)
32,777
(446)
46,150
366,116

(900,907)

(519,704)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditure on plant and equipment
Expenditure on mining interests (exploration)
Cash calls received from exploration JV parties
Refunds of (payments for) security deposits

(7,141)
(2,179,311)
867,170
2,150

(12,626)
(2,071,564)
866,447
4,287

NET CASH (OUTFLOWS) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(1,317,132)

(1,213,456)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs

1,506,000
5,195

1,211,367
(58,462)

NET CASH INFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1,511,195

1,152,905

NET CASH INFLOWS (OUTFLOWS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

33(b)

NET (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD

(706,844)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

33(a)

(580,255)

1,085,639

1,665,894

378,795

1,085,639

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Crossland Strategic Metals Limited

ABN 64 087 595 980

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2013
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
financial report includes the consolidated entity consisting of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd and its
subsidiaries.
The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Crossland Strategic Metals Limited, have
not been presented within this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 25th March 2014 by the directors of the
company.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accord‐
ance with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The
Group is a for‐profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result
in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and
conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements
and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consist‐
ently applied unless otherwise stated.
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of se‐
lected non‐current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.
Going concern basis
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes continuity of nor‐
mal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary
course of business.

Net loss for year
Negative cash flows from operations for the year
Net assets as at 31 December
Cash balances as at 31 December

2013
$
(1, 952,504)
(900,907)
5,957,426
378,795

2012
$
(1,819,312)
(519,704)
6,392,081
1,085,639

The directors believe that the company will have sufficient working capital to meet its minimum pro‐
ject development and administrative expenses in the twelve months following the date of signing of
the financial report.
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On 26 March 2014, 20,000,000 shares were issued at 1 cent raising $200,000 to fund the continuing
operations of the company and an R&D Tax Offset Rebate of $138,000 is expected to be received in
May. Until further significant funding is received the group’s operations have been reduced to a mini‐
mum.
The directors are investigating options to raise additional funds to allow the company to pursue its
project opportunities beyond the minimum expenditure required with the intent that the consolidated
group continues as a going concern.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical ac‐
counting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
note 3.
Significant accounting policies
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resultant financial in‐
formation satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the
underlying transactions and other events is reported.
The Company has adopted relevant new and revised accounting standards and pronouncements with
no material impact.
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of
the financial report:
a)

Borrowings
Loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Interest expense is recog‐
nised on an accruals basis.

b)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

c)

Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.
A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a com‐
bination involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will
be accounted for from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifia‐
ble assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject
to certain limited exemptions).
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or lia‐
bility is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in
profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.
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All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations are recognised as expenses in
profit or loss when incurred.
The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain
purchase.
d)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash management
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of
cash flows.

e)

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

f)

g)

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered
by employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be set‐
tled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability
is settled. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the li‐
ability, consideration is given to employee wages increases and the probability that the employ‐
ee may satisfy any vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows
attributable to employee benefits.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of
each identifiable area of interest. These costs are only capitalised to the extent that they are ex‐
pected to be recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in
the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of
economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit or loss
in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of con‐
tinuing to capitalise costs in relation to that area of interest.
Costs of site restoration are provided for over the life of the project from when exploration
commences and are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dis‐
mantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and
rehabilitation of the site in accordance with local laws and regulations and clauses of the per‐
mits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal require‐
ments and technology on an undiscounted basis. Any changes in the estimates for the costs are
accounted for on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site restoration, there is uncer‐
tainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and fu‐
ture legislation. Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the restoration
will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
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h)

Financial Instruments
Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that
the company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting
is adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where
the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs
are expensed to profit or loss immediately.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effec‐
tive interest method, or cost.
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and
adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected
life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected fu‐
ture net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential
recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss.
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as
being subject to the requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable to financial in‐
struments.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for
trading for the purpose of short‐term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging pur‐
poses, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to en‐
able performance evaluation where a Group of financial assets is managed by key man‐
agement personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk man‐
agement or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value
with changes in carrying amount being included in profit or loss.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation
process and when the financial asset is derecognised.
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i)

(iii)

Held‐to‐maturity investments
Held‐to‐maturity investments are non‐derivative financial assets that have fixed maturi‐
ties and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these
investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the fi‐
nancial asset is derecognised.

(iv)

Available‐for‐sale investments
Available‐for‐sale investments are non‐derivative financial assets that are either not ca‐
pable of being classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or
they are designated as such by management.

(v)

Financial liabilities
Non‐derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the
amortisation process and when the financial liability is derecognised.

Foreign currency translation
i. Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the func‐
tional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars,
which is Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd’s functional and presentation currency.
ii. Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year‐end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the in‐
come statement.

j)

Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables
or payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable
to, the taxation authorities is classified as operating cash flows.

k)

Goodwill
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the
excess of the sum of:
(i)
the consideration transferred;
(ii)
any non‐controlling interest; and
(iii)
the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest
over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired.
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The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus
the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the in‐
vestment in the separate financial statements.
Fair value remeasurements in any pre‐existing equity holdings are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. Where changes in the value of such equity holdings had previ‐
ously been recognised in other comprehensive income, such amounts are recycled to profit or
loss.
The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds
less than a 100% interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the non‐controlling
interest. The Group can elect in most circumstances to measure the non‐controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value (full goodwill method) or at the non‐controlling interest's pro‐
portionate share of the subsidiary's identifiable net assets (proportionate interest method). In
such circumstances, the Group determines which method to adopt for each acquisition and this
is stated in the respective notes to these financial statements disclosing the business combina‐
tion.
Under the full goodwill method, the fair value of the non‐controlling interests is determined us‐
ing valuation techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available.
Under this method, goodwill attributable to the non‐controlling interests is recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of
associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group's cash‐generating units
or groups of cash‐generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of.
Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions and
do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.
l)

Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s assets, other than deferred tax assets, are re‐
viewed at each balance date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash‐
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the in‐
come statement, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment
loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recog‐
nised through profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash‐generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash‐generating units (group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata
basis.
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i. Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre‐tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely inde‐
pendent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash‐generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
ii. Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amorti‐
sation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
m)

Income tax
The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income)
and deferred tax expense (income).
Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Cur‐
rent tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from)
the relevant taxation authority.
Deferred income tax expense, using the balance sheet liability method, reflects movements in
deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year as well unused tax losses.
Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss
when the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss.
Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recogni‐
tion of an asset or liability, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also re‐
flects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the
related asset or liability.
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set‐off exists and
it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective
asset and liability will occur.
Tax consolidation
The company and all its wholly‐owned Australian resident entities have not entered into a tax
consolidated group under Australian taxation law.
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n)

Investments in Associates
Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence through holding, directly
or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting power of the Group. Investments in associates are ac‐
counted for in the financial statements by applying the equity method of accounting, whereby
the investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post‐acquisition
change in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate company. In addition, the Group’s
share of the profit or loss of the associate company is included in the Group’s profit or loss.
The carrying amount of the investment includes goodwill relating to the associate. Any discount
on acquisition, whereby the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate exceeds the cost
of investment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are elimi‐
nated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless it has incurred legal or con‐
structive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
When the associate subsequently makes profits, the Group will resume recognising its share of
those profits once its share of the profits equals the share of the losses not recognised.
Details of the Group’s investments in associates are provided in Note 17.

o)

Joint ventures
The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of jointly controlled operations
have been included in the appropriate line items of the consolidated financial statements. De‐
tails of the Group’s interests are provided in Note 28.
The Group’s interests in joint venture entities are recorded using the equity method of account‐
ing (refer to Note 1(n) for details) in the consolidated financial statements.
Where the Group contributes assets to the joint venture or if the Group purchases assets from
the joint venture, only the portion of the gain or loss that is not attributable to the Group’s
share of the joint venture shall be recognised. The Group recognises the full amount of any loss
when the contribution results in a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an
impairment loss.

p)

Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with
the lessor, are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

q)
(i)

Loss per share
Basic loss per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders
of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii)

Diluted loss per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per
share to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs as‐
sociated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares
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assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

r)

Plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less,
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumu‐
lated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant
and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is writ‐
ten down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recog‐
nised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a re‐
valued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators
are present (refer to Note 1(l) for details of impairment).
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not
in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on
the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values
in determining recoverable amounts.
The cost of fixed assets constructed within the consolidated group includes the cost of materials,
direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis on all plant and equipment at rates calculated to
write off the cost, less estimated residual value at the end of the useful lives of the assets, over
those estimated useful lives.
The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation.
Plant and equipment
Motor Vehicles

s)

5‐8 years
5 years

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of
Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd (‘’company’’ or ‘’parent entity’’) as at 31 December 2013 and the
results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd and its subsidi‐
aries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.
Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial perfor‐
mance of those entities is included only for the period of the year that they were controlled. A
list of controlled entities is contained in Note 29 to the financial statements.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intragroup balances and transactions be‐
tween entities in the consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Non‐controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to a parent, are reported separately within the equity section of the consolidated statement of
financial position and statement of comprehensive income. The non‐controlling interests in the
net assets comprise their interests at the date of the original business combination and their
share of changes in equity since that date.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of
Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd.
t)

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the consolidated entity has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre‐tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability.

u)

Revenue recognition
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

v)

Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or ser‐
vices that are subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments.
A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular econom‐
ic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments op‐
erating in other economic environments.

w)

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services
performed in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12
months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables
are classified as non‐current assets.
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to
Note 1(l) for further discussion on the determination of impairment losses.

x)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity
that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current li‐
ability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

New accounting standards for application in future periods
The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandato‐
ry application dates for future reporting periods.
The Group has decided against early adoption of these standards.
A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Group follows
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Operative date 1 July 2013 with an application date for the group of 1 January 2014.
AASB
AASB
2011–4:
Amendments to Aus‐
tralian
Accounting
Standards to Remove
Individual Key Man‐
agement Personnel
Disclosure Require‐
ments

Summary
-

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124: Relat‐
ed Party Disclosures to remove the individual key
management personnel disclosure requirements (in‐
cluding paras Aus29.1 to Aus29.9.3). These amend‐
ments serve a number of purposes, including further‐
ing trans‐Tasman convergence, removing differences
from IFRSs, and avoiding any potential confusion with
the equivalent Corporations Act 2001 disclosure re‐
quirements.

Impact on group
This Standard is
not expected to
significantly im‐
pact the Group’s
financial state‐
ments

Operative date 1 January 2014 with an application date for the group of 1 January 2014.
AASB
AASB
2012–3:
Amendments to Aus‐
tralian
Accounting
Standards – Offset‐
ting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabili‐
ties

Summary
-

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132:
Financial Instruments: Presentation to address poten‐
tial inconsistencies identified in applying some of the
offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of
set‐off” and that some gross settlement systems may
be considered equivalent to net settlement.

Impact on group
This Standard is
not expected to
significantly im‐
pact the Group’s
financial state‐
ments

Operative date 1 January 2015 with an application date for the group of 1 January 2015.
AASB

Summary

AASB 9: Financial In‐ The changes made to accounting requirements include:
struments
- simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those
carried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value;
and
- simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives;
AASB
2009–11: - removing the tainting rules associated with held‐to‐
maturity assets;
Amendments to Aus‐
removing the requirements to separate and fair value
tralian
Accounting
embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amor‐
Standards
arising
tised cost;
from AASB 9
- allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to
present gains and losses on investments in equity instru‐
ments that are not held for trading in other comprehen‐
sive income. Dividends in respect of these investments
that are a return on investment can be recognised in
profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on
disposal of the instrument; and
- reclassifying financial assets where there is a change in an
entity’s business model as they are initially classified
based on the objective of the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the characteristics of
the contractual cash flows.

Impact on group
These Standards
are
applicable
retrospectively
and amend the
classification and
measurement of
financial assets.
The Group has
not yet deter‐
mined potential
impact on the fi‐
nancial
state‐
ments.
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The Group does not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above reporting requirements.
2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, fair
value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.
(i)

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the consolidated entity’s functional curren‐
cy.

(ii)

Credit risk
There is negligible credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity since there is no ex‐
posure to individual customers or countries and the economic entity’s exposure is limited to
the amount of cash, short term deposits and receivables which have been recognised in the
statement of financial position and is minimised by using recognised financial intermediaries as
counterparties.

(iii)

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed finance facilities.

(iv)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group has interest‐bearing assets, however the Group’s income and operating cash flows
are not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting esti‐
mates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. There are no estimates and assump‐
tions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia and Canada. Significant judgement is required in de‐
termining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially record‐
ed, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such de‐
termination is made
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
The Group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is considered likely
to be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of reserves. While there are certain areas of interest from which no re‐
serves have been extracted, the directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should not
be written off since feasibility studies in such areas have not yet concluded. Such capitalised expendi‐
ture is carried at the end of the reporting period at $5,296,595.
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4. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following information has been extracted from the books and
records of the parent and has been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSETS
Current assets
Non‐current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Non Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Accumulated losses
Share based payments reserve
TOTAL EQUITY
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Total loss
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

2013
$

2012
$

815,167
5,458,917
6,274,084

1,202,024
7,106,910
8,308,934

269,258
45,173
314,430

314,789
51,267
366,056

5,959,654

7,942,878

18,362,386
(12,746,522)
343,790
5,959,694

16,851,191
(9,245,449)
337,136
7,942,878

(3,501,073)
(3,501,073)

(1,352,267)
(1,352,267)

Guarantees
Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd has not entered into any guarantees, in the current financial period, in
relation to the debts of any of its subsidiaries.
Contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2013, Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd had no contingent liabilities.
Contractual commitments
At 31 December 2013, Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd had not entered into any contractual commitments for
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
5. REVENUE

Interest received
Past period recoveries
Other income
Total revenue from continuing operations

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
9,209
32,777
‐
46,150
1,429
‐
10,638
78,927
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6. OPERATING LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
The operating loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense
has been determined after charging the following expenses:
Depreciation
Employee entitlements
Exploration expenditure written off
Interest paid
Office rent
Share based remuneration
Superannuation

80,601
(10,822)
1,336,671
2,640
82,182
6,654
31,218

104,389
7,543
1,040,767
446
116,953
‐
32,095

7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
a) Directors
The following persons were Directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited during the whole of
the financial year and up to the date of this report unless otherwise stated:
Geoffrey S Eupene
Robert A Cleary (Resigned 24 February 2013)
Peter W Walker
Robert L Richardson
Malcolm K Smartt
Sia Hok Kiang (Appointed 6 August 2013)
b) Other key management personnel
All directors are identified as key management personnel under AASB 124 “Related Party Disclo‐
sures”.
There are no other staff that meet the definition of key management personnel.
c) Key management personnel compensation
Consolidated
2013
2012
Short‐term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits
Share‐based payments

521,217
20,782
‐
541,999

534,776
13,793
‐
548,569

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by the Corporations Regulations and
has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures to the Directors’ report. The relevant in‐
formation can be found in sections A‐D of the remuneration report included in the Directors re‐
port.
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d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel
(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options
No options were provided as remuneration and no shares were issued on the exercise of
such options.
(ii) Option holdings
As detailed below as at 31 December 2013.
The relevant interest of each Director in options of the Company as at the date of this report is as
follows:
Balance Vested and
Other
2013
changes at the end exercisable
Granted Exercised
Balance at the
of the at the end
Name
start of the during the during the during the
year of the year
year
year
year
year
Options
Directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd
Geoffrey S Eupene
4,629,245
‐
‐
‐
‐ 4,629,245
Sia Hok Kiang
‐ 10,000,000
‐
‐
‐ 10,000,000
Peter W Walker
1,089,741
‐
‐
‐
‐ 1,089,741
Robert L Richardson
522,619
‐
‐
‐
‐
522,619
Malcolm K Smartt
1,200,000
‐
‐
‐
‐ 1,200,000
Note – 10 million options were part of a placement at circa 3 cents per share before Mr Sia was ap‐
pointed a Director.
2012
Other
Vested and
changes
Balance at exercisable
Exercised
Name

Balance at the Granted dur‐
start of the year ing the year
Directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd
Geoffrey S Eupene
‐
‐
Peter W Walker
‐
‐
Robert L Richardson
‐
‐
Malcolm K Smartt
500,000
‐

during the
year

during the
year

the end of
the year

at the end
of the year

‐
‐
‐
‐

4,629,245
1,089,741
522,619
700,000

4,629,245
1,089,741
522,619
1,200,000

4,629,245
1,089,741
522,619
1,200,000

iii) Share holdings
The numbers of shares in the company held at the end of the financial year by each Direc‐
tor of the Company and other key management personnel of the Group, including their
personally related parties, are set out below. There were no shares granted during the re‐
porting period as compensation.
Ordinary shares
Directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd
2012
Balance at the start
Received during the
Other changes dur‐
Name
of the year
year as incentive shares
ing the year
Geoffrey S Eupene
9,258,492
‐
‐
Sia Hok Kiang
‐
‐
40,000,000
Peter W Walker
2,874,899
‐
‐
Robert L Richardson
1,045,238
304,651
Malcolm K Smartt
1,000,000
‐
450,000
2011
Geoffrey S Eupene
9,258,492
‐
‐
Peter W Walker
2,874,899
‐
‐
Robert A Cleary
5,892,326
‐
‐
Robert L Richardson
795,238
250,000
Malcolm K Smartt
200,000
‐
800,000

Balance at the end
of the year
9,258,492
40,000,000
2,874,899
1,349,889
1,450,000
9,258,492
2,874,899
5,892,326
1,045,238
1,000,000

Note – 40 million shares were taken as a placement at circa 3 cents per share before Mr Sia was ap‐
pointed a Director.
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8.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Consolidated

Fees paid to BDJ Partners Audit Pty Ltd during the year
Audit of the Company's accounts
Other services

2013
$
54,000
‐
54,000

2012
$
31,000
‐
31,000

9. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS
Identification of reportable segments
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and
used by the Board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and deter‐
mining the allocation of resources.
The group is managed primarily on the basis of exploration in Australia. Operating segments are there‐
fore determined on the same basis.
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments
Accounting policies adopted
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief decision mak‐
ers with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that
are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group.
Inter‐segment transactions
An internally determined transfer price is set for all inter‐segment sales. This price is reset quarterly
and is based on what would be realised in the event the sale was made to an external party at arm’s
length. All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group’s financial statements.
Corporate charges are allocated to reporting segments based on the segments overall proportion of
revenue generation within the Group. The Board of Directors believes this is representative of likely
consumption of head office expenditure that should be used in assessing segment performance and
cost recoveries.
Inter‐segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received/to be
received net of transaction costs. If inter‐segment loans receivable and payable are not on commercial
terms, these are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. This policy represents a de‐
parture from that applied to the statutory financial statements
Segment assets
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives
majority economic value from the asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly iden‐
tifiable on the basis of their nature and physical location.
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Segment liabilities
Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is a direct nexus between the incurrence of the liabil‐
ity and the operations of the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate
to the Group as a whole and are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables
and certain direct borrowings.
Unallocated items
The following items of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating seg‐
ments as they are not considered part of the core operations of any segment:
 impairment of assets and other non‐recurring items of revenue or expense;
 income tax expense;
 deferred tax assets and liabilities;
 current tax liabilities;
 other financial liabilities;
 intangible assets
Exploration
Total
Exploration
Total
Australia
Australia
2013
2013
2012
2012
Segment performance
$
$
$
$
Interest received
Past period recoveries
Other income
Total revenue from continuing operations
Segment net loss from continuing opera‐
tions before tax
Reconciliation of segment result to group net
profit/loss before tax:
Amounts not included in segment result but
reviewed by the Board:
— administration charges
— depreciation and amortisation

9,209
‐
1,429

9,209
‐
1,429

32,777
46,150
‐

32,777
46,150
‐

10,638

10,638

78,927

78,927

(1,872,439)

Exploration
Australia
2013
$
6,298,168

Group liabilities

Total
2013
$
6,298,168

340,742

340,742

‐
340,742

(1,646,327)

(373,706)
(104,389)
(2,124,422)
Exploration
Australia
2012
$
6,781,887

‐
6,298,168

Group assets
Segment Liabilities
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group li‐
abilities:
Unallocated liabilities

(1,646,327)

(308,261)
(80,601)
(2,261,301)

Net loss before tax from continuing operations

Segment Assets
Reconciliation of segment assets to group as‐
sets:
Unallocated assets

(1,872,439)

Total
2012
$
6,781,887
‐
6,781,887

389,806

389,806

‐
389,806
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10. LOSS PER SHARE
(a)

2013
Cents

Basic and diluted loss per share

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company

2012
Cents

(1.12)

(b) Reconciliation of loss used in calculating loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share

(1.15)

2013
$

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in cal‐
culating basic and diluted loss per share
(c)
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic and diluted loss per share.
The options on issue as stated in note 22 have not been taken into account
for dilution purposes as they are not considered to be dilutive due to the ex‐
ercise prices being in excess of the current share price.

2012
$

(1,952,504)
2013
Number
174,376,988

(1,819,312)
2012
Number
157,629,043

11. TAXATION
The prima facie income tax expense on pre‐tax accounting profit
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements
as follows:
Loss from ordinary activities

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
(2,261,301)
678,390
(678,390)
308,797
308,797

(2,124,422)
637,327
(637,327)
366,116
366,116

Other comprehensive income

‐

(61,006)

Income tax expense calculated at 30% of other comprehensive in‐
come
Deferred tax amounts not recognised

‐

18,302

‐

(18,302)

Income tax expense (benefit)

‐

Income tax expense calculated at 30% of operating loss
Deferred tax amounts not recognised
R & D Tax Offset Rebate received
Income tax expense (benefit)

Deferred tax assets
Not brought to account calculated at 30%
Revenue tax losses
Capital tax losses
Temporary differences
Total

5,798,616
257
314,083
6,112,956

‐

4,560,796
27,257
382,760
4,970,813

The taxation benefits of revenue tax losses and temporary differences not brought to account will only
be obtained if:
(i) the company and the consolidated entity derive further assessable income of a nature and
of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realised;
(ii) the company and the consolidated entity continue to comply with the conditions for de‐
ductibility imposed by the law; and
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the company's and the consolidated entity's
ability in realising the benefit from the deductions.
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call

109,835
268,960
378,795

127,815
957,824
1,085,639

27,273
385,000
16,156
428,429

81,634
‐
19,914
101,548

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables
Amounts receivable from joint venture parties
GST debtor
14. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments

15,849
15,849

19,464
19,464

15. RECEIVABLES – NON‐CURRENT

Security deposits

116,738
116,738

118,888
118,888

16. DEFERRED EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Deferred exploration costs
Deferred exploration costs brought forward
Expenditure incurred during the year
Amounts received from Joint venture participants
Exploration expenditure written off
Deferred exploration costs carried forward

5,321,126
5,321,126
2,179,310
(867,170)
(1,336,671)
5,296,595

5,156,777
2,071,564
(866,448)
(1,040,767)
5,321,126

The above amounts represent costs incurred on exploration areas of interest which have been carried
forward as an asset in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1.
The ultimate recoupment of deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward in re‐
spect of an area of interest is dependent upon the discovery of commercially viable reserves and the
successful development and exploitation of the respective areas or alternatively sale of the underlying
areas of interest for at least their carrying value.
Amortisation, in respect of the relevant area of interest, is not charged until a mining operation has
commenced.
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17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(a)

Details of associate:

Name of Associate

Principal Activities

Crosscontinental Lim‐
ited

General Exploration and
evaluation

Ownership interest
2013
2012
%
%
50

Carrying amount
2013
2012
$
$

50

(b) Share of reserves attributable to associates:
Share of associates’ profits taken up in the consolidated financial statements
Operating profit (loss) before tax
Income tax expense
Net operating profit after income tax as shown in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Retained earnings at beginning of period
Share of associates losses no longer recognised
Retained earnings at end of period
(c)

Movement in equity accounted investment
Carrying amount of investment at beginning of financial year
Share of associates’ current year losses after tax (refer (b))
Share of associates losses no longer recognised
Amounts due from joint venture
Carrying amount of investment (provision for associates losses) at end of
financial year
Summary of financial position of associated entity:
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non‐current assets
Net liabilities

‐

‐

(10,759)
‐

(15,886)
‐

(10,759)
‐
10,759
‐

(15,886)
‐
15,886
‐

‐
(10,759)
10,759
‐

‐
(15,886)
15,886
‐

‐

‐

16,289
(568,575)
‐
(552,286)

27,336
(530,185)
3,517
(499,332)

18. PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Motor vehicles
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total Plant and equipment

406,637
(362,435)
44,202

407,297
(325,567)
81,730

280.691
(263,131)
17,560
61,762

280,691
(227,199)
53,492
135,222

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of each class of plant and equipment at the beginning and end
of the current financial year are set out below.
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Consolidated 2013

Carrying amount at 1 January 2013
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Carrying amount at 31 December 2013

Plant &
equipment
81,730
7,141
(44,669)
‐
44,202

Motor
Vehicles
53,492
‐
(35,932)
‐
17,560

Total
135,222
7,141
(80,601)
‐
61,762

Consolidated 2012
Carrying amount at 1 January 2012
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Carrying amount at 31 December 2012

126,463
12,626
(57,359)
‐
81,730

100,522
‐
(47,030)
‐
53,492

226,985
12,626
(104,389)
‐
135,222

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade creditors and accruals
Annual leave entitlements

272,606
14,213

310,788
19,001

286,819

329,789

20. NON CURRENT PROVISIONS
Site rehabilitation
Long Service Leave

21.
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Issued Capital
207,629,043 fully paid ordinary shares
(2012 –157,629,043)
Options Rights Issue
Less share issue costs

Movements in Issued Capital
Balance as at 1 January 2013
Issues during period:
Placements
Options Rights Issue
Less share issue costs
Balance as at 31 December 2013

23,750
30,173

23,750
36,267

53,923

60,017

18,944,137
287,297
(869,048)

17,438,137
287,297
(874,243)

18,362,386

16,851,191

16,851,191

15,698,286

1,506,000
‐
5,195
18,362,386

924,070
287,297
(58,462)
16,851,191
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22.

OPTIONS

Expiry Date
30 Jun 13
30 Nov 14
30 Jun 15

23.

Exercise
Price
0.15
0.15
0.10

Issued
1 Jan 13
5,750,000
35,574,642
‐

‐
‐
15,000,000

‐
‐
‐

Lapsed
5,750,000
‐
‐

41,324,642

15,000,000

‐

(5,750,000)

Granted

Exercised

Issued
31 Dec 13
‐
35,574,642
15,000,000
50,574,642

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Exchange gains transferred to reserve
Disposal of controlled entity
Balance at the end of the financial year

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
‐
(61,006)
‐
‐
‐
61,006
‐
‐

Nature and purpose of reserve
The Foreign Currency Translation Reserve records unrealised exchange gains and losses on translation of
foreign controlled entities during the year.

24.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS RESERVE

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Share based payments transferred to reserve
Balance at the end of the financial year

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
337,136
337,136
6,834
‐
343,790
337,136

Nature and purpose of reserve
The share based payments reserve records the value of options issued to employees and Directors which
have been taken to expenses.
25.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year
Net loss for the year
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year
26.

(10,796,246)
(1,952,504)
(12,748,750)

(8,976,934)
(1,819,312)
(10,796,246)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities.
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27.

COMMITMENTS

Exploration Tenement Expenditure Requirements
In order to maintain the consolidated entity’s tenements in good standing with Australian mining authori‐
ties, the Company will be required to incur exploration expenditure under the terms of each claim.

Payable not later than one year
Payable later than one year, but not later than two years

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
2,667,000
958,379
‐
‐
2,667,000
958,379

It is likely that variations to the terms of the current and future tenement holdings, the granting of new
tenements and changes in tenement areas at renewal or expiry, will change the expenditure commitment
to the consolidated entity from time to time.
If funds are not available to meet the required expenditure on a tenement the relevant Australian mining
authority would be contacted to negotiate a reduction of the expenditure. Should the negotiations not be
satisfactory then the company would withdraw from the tenement.
Operating lease commitments

Operating leases relate to storage facilities. The consolidated entity does not have an option to
purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Payable not later than one year
Payable later than one year, but not later than two years

28.
JOINT VENTURES
The Group is engaged in the following exploration joint ventures, whose principal activities are exploration
for uranium and rare earth elements.

Pancontinental Joint Venture
Interests were shown in the statement of financial position as
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Amounts receivable from joint venture parties
Total non‐current assets

2013

2012

%
55.63%

%
55%

2013

2012

$

$

5,161,407

4,758,776

385,000

‐

5,546,407

4,758,776
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29.

PARTICULARS RELATING TO CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Company

Country of Incorporation and Operation

Crossland Diamonds Pty Ltd
Crossland Mines Pty Ltd
Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

30.
(a)

Percentage of Equity Held
2013
2012
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Directors

The names of each person holding the position of director of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd during the finan‐
cial year were:
Geoffrey S Eupene
Robert A Cleary (Resigned 24 February 2013)
Peter W Walker
Robert L Richardson
Malcolm K Smartt
Sia Hok Kiang (Appointed 6 August 2013)
(b)

Directors interests

Interests in the shares and options of the Company held by current directors and their director‐related enti‐
ties are shown in note 7.
(c)

Associates of directors

Directors fees were paid to the following associates
of directors:
Director
RA Cleary
RL Richardson
Sia Hok Kiang
(d)

Associated company
Accomplishments Pty Ltd
GeoTangent Pty Ltd
HK Rare Earth Sdn Bhd

Transactions with associates of directors

Eupene Exploration Enterprises (EEE), a Company in which Mr Eupene is a
Director and shareholder, is utilised to provide geophysical and geological
services in relation to Crossland Tenements. Fees paid are on normal com‐
mercial terms.
Consulting geologists
Equipment hire
Vehicle hire
GeoTangent Pty Ltd, a Company in which Mr Richardson is a Director and
shareholder, is utilised to conduct geophysical and exploration on Crossland
Tenements. Fees paid are on normal commercial terms.

2013
$

2012
$

226,500
1,800
‐

262,000
3,900
2,250

47,250

65,867
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(e)

Joint Ventures

Amounts receivable from joint venture parties at balance date
31.

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
385,000
‐

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 26 March 2014, 20,000,000 shares were issues at 1 cent raising $200,000 to fund the company.
There were at the date of this report no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 31 Decem‐
ber 2013 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:
(i) the operations of the consolidated entity,
(ii) the results of those operations, or
(iii) the state of affairs of the consolidated entity
in the financial year subsequent to 31 December 2013.
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURES
(a)

Capital
The Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital and accumulated retained
earnings.
In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a
consistent return for its equity shareholders through a combination of capital growth and distribu‐
tions. In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to maintain a gearing ratio that balances
risks and returns at an acceptable level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the
Group to meet its working capital and strategic investment needs. In making decisions to adjust its
capital structure to achieve these aims, either through altering its dividend policy, new share issues,
or reduction of debt, the Group considers not only its short‐term position but also its long‐term op‐
erational and strategic objectives.
It is the Group’s policy to maintain its gearing ratio within the range of 0‐25% (2012: 0‐25%). The
Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the financial year is shown below:

Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total capital
Gearing ratio

Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
378,795
1,085,639
378,795
1,085,639
18,362,386
343,790
(12,748,750)
5,957,426
‐

16,851,191
337,136
(10,796,246)
6,392,081
‐
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(b)

Financial instrument risk exposure and management
In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of finan‐
cial instruments. This note describes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing
those risks and the methods used to measure them.
Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial
statements.
There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its
objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them
from previous periods unless otherwise stated in this note.

(c)

Principal financial instruments
The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises,
are as follows:
other receivables;
cash at bank;
trade and other payables.

(d)

General objectives, policies and processes
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objec‐
tives and policies and has the responsibility for designing and operating processes that ensure the
effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s finance function. The Board
receives monthly reports through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place
and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.
The overall objective of the board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible with‐
out unduly affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these
policies are set out below:
(i)

Credit risk
Credit risk arises principally from the Group’s trade receivables and investments in corpo‐
rate bonds. It is the risk that the counterparty fails to discharge its obligation in respect of
the instrument.
Other receivables
Other receivables comprise GST receivable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is as follows
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$
Security Deposits
Amounts receivable from joint venture parties
Other receivables
GST receivables
(ii)

116,738
385,000
27,273
16,156
545,167

118,888
‐
81,634
19,914
220,436

Liquidity risk
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Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital and the finance
charges and principal repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Group will
encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its
liabilities when they become due. To achieve this aim, it seeks to maintain cash balances
(or agreed facilities) to meet expected requirements for a period of at least 45 days.
The Board receives cash flow projections on a quarterly basis as well as information regard‐
ing cash balances. At the end of the financial year, these projections indicated that the
Group expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reason‐
ably expected circumstances.
The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash
inflows and outflows. Trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from
the financing of assets used in our ongoing operations such as property, plant, equipment
and investments in working capital (e.g., trade receivables). These assets are considered in
the Group's overall liquidity risk.
Carrying
Contractual
Amount
Cash flows
$
$
Maturity Analysis ‐ Consolidated – 2013
Financial Liabilities
Trade Creditors
141,243
141,243
TOTAL
141,243
141,243
Maturity Analysis ‐ Consolidated – 2012
Financial Liabilities
Trade Creditors
223,636
TOTAL
223,636

223,636
223,636

< 6 mths
$

6‐ 12
mths
$

1‐3
years
$

> 3 years
$

141,243
141,243

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

223,636
223,636

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

Market risk
Market risk does not arise as the Group does not use interest bearing, tradable and foreign
currency financial instruments.

(iv)
(a)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk
The Company receives interest on its cash balance and at balance date was exposed to a float‐
ing weighted average interest rate on cash balances of 3.05% (2009 – 3.05%). As surplus funds
become available, they are deposited in its cash management account and are exposed to re‐
ceiving a floating rate, which varies according to the amount of funds deposited. All other fi‐
nancial assets are non‐interest bearing.
Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities: the net fair value of cash and cash equivalents
and non‐interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying
value.
The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average in‐
terest rate for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities is set out in the following
table:
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Notes
2013
Financial assets
Cash
Receivables ‐ Current
Receivables – Non Current

12
13
15

Weighted average interest rate
Financial liabilities
Payables
19
Weighted average interest rate
Net financial assets (liabilities)

Notes
2012
Financial assets
Cash
Receivables ‐ Current
Receivables – Non Current

12
13
15

Weighted average interest rate
Financial liabilities
Payables
19
Weighted average interest rate
Net financial assets (liabilities)

Floating
interest rate
$

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or over 1 to 5 more than 5
less
years
years
$
$
$

Non‐interest
bearing
$

Total
$

378,795
‐
‐
378,795
2.40%

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
428,429
116,738
545,167

378,795
428,429
116,738
923,962

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

286,819
286,819

286,819
286,819

378,795

‐

‐

‐

258,348

637,143

Floating
interest rate
$

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or over 1 to 5 more than 5
less
years
years
$
$
$

Non‐interest
bearing
$

Total
$

1,085,639
‐
‐
1,085,639
3.18%

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
101,548
19,464
121,012

1,085,639
101,548
19,464
1,206,651

‐
‐
‐
1,085,639

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

329,789
329,789

329,789
329,789

‐

‐

‐

(208,777)

876,862
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Sensitivity Analysis

2013

Consolidated
+1% interest rate
Profit & Loss

‐1% interest rate
Profit & Loss

378,795
378,795

3,788
3,788
(1,136)
2,652

(3,788)
(3,788)
1,136
(2,652)

1,085,639
1,085,639

10,856
10,856
(3,257)
7,599

(10,856)
(10,856)
3,257
(7,599)

Carrying amount

Cash assets
Tax charge of 30%
Post tax profit increase / (decrease)
2012
Cash assets
Tax charge of 30%
Post tax profit increase / (decrease)
(v)

Currency risk

The Group’s policy is, where possible, to allow group entities to settle liabilities denominated in their
functional currency (AUD) with the cash generated from their own operations in that currency.
Where group entities have liabilities denominated in a currency other than their functional currency
(and have insufficient reserves of that currency to settle them) cash already denominated in that cur‐
rency will, where possible, be transferred from elsewhere in the Group
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:
Consolidated
2013
2012
$CAD
$CAD
11,270
11,270

Cash at bank
Net Exposure

11,270
11,270
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the foreign currency risk exposures in existence at the
year end. The below analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.
Sensitivity Analysis

2013
Cash at bank
Tax charge of 30%
Post tax profit increase / (decrease)
2012
Cash at bank
Tax charge of 30%
Post tax profit increase / (decrease)

Consolidated

Carrying amount
$CAD
11,270
11,270

11,270
11,270

+10%
CAD /AUD
Profit & Loss
AUD$
1,190
1,190
(357)
833

‐10%
CAD/AUD
Profit & Loss
AUD$
(1,190)
(1,190)
357
(833)

1,093
1,093
(328)
765

(1,093)
(1,093)
328
(765)
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(vi)

Sovereign risk
Country or sovereign risk relates to the likelihood that changes in the business environ‐
ment will occur that reduce the profitability of doing business in a country. These changes
can adversely affect operating profits as well as the value of assets. Types of country risk
include;
Political changes.
Governments may change economic policies. Changes in the ruling party in Australia
(brought about by elections, coups or wars) may results in major policy changes. This could
result in expropriation of the Group’s exploration leases, inability to repatriate future prof‐
its, higher taxes, higher tariffs and import costs, elimination of FDI incentives, domestic
ownership requirements and local content requirements.
Macroeconomic mismanagement.
The Australian government may pursue unsound monetary and fiscal policies which may
lead to inflation, higher interest rates, recession and hard currency shortage.
Other types of country risk include war and labour unrest which could result in higher costs
and work stoppages.
The Group has maintained a working policy of keeping all relevant Government offices in‐
formed and updated on activities to allow clear avenues of communication with Govern‐
ment authorities and an understanding of any policy changes and any affects that they may
have on the Group’s work.

(e)

Accounting policies
(i)

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets fall into the categories discussed below, with the allocation
depending to an extent on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments in economic hedges of currency or interest rate
risk. The Group has not classified any of its financial assets as held to maturity.
Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets are a rea‐
sonable approximation of their fair values.
Other receivables
These assets are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the sale of assets and
GST receivable. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are di‐
rectly attributable to the acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at amortised cost us‐
ing the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. The effect of dis‐
counting on these financial instruments is not considered to be material.
Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant
financial difficulties on the part of the counterparty or default or significant delay in pay‐
ment) that the Group will be unable to collect all of the amounts due under the terms re‐
ceivable, the amount of such a provision being the difference between the net carrying
amount and the present value of the future such provisions are recorded in a separate al‐
lowance account with the loss being recognised within administrative expenses in the in‐
come statement. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the
gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
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Available for sale
Non‐derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as avail‐
able for sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised directly in
the available for sale reserve. Where there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an available for sale financial asset (which constitutes objective evidence of im‐
pairment), the full amount of the impairment, including any amount previously charged to
equity, is recognised in the income statement. Purchases and sales of available for sale fi‐
nancial assets are recognised on settlement date with any change in fair value between
trade date and settlement date being recognised in the available for sale reserve. On sale,
the amount held in the available for sale reserve associated with that asset is removed
from equity and recognised in the income statement. Interest on corporate bonds classi‐
fied as available for sale is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised
in finance income in the income statement.
(ii)

Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments in economic hedges of currency or interest rate
risk.
Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts of the Groups financial liabilities are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values.
These financial liabilities include trade payables and other short‐term monetary liabilities,
which are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method

(iii)

Share capital
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they
do not meet the definition of a financial liability. The Groups ordinary shares are classified
as equity instruments.
For the purposes of these disclosures, the Group considers its capital to comprise its ordi‐
nary share capital, and accumulated retained earnings. Neither the available for sale re‐
serve nor the translation reserve is considered as capital. There have been no changes in
what the Group considers to be capital since the previous period.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements
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33.

NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Consolidated
2013
2012
$
$

(a)

Cash on hand comprises:

Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call

(b)

109,835
268,960
378,795

127,815
957,824
1,085,639

Reconciliation of loss from ordinary activities after income tax to net cash outflows from operating
activities as follows:

Operating (loss) after income tax
Depreciation
Exploration expenditure written off
Provision for leave entitlements
Share of associates loss
Share based payments expense
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
‐ Decrease / (Increase) in receivables
‐ Decrease / (Increase) in other assets
‐ Increase / (Decrease) in accounts payable
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities

(1,952,504)
80,601
1,336,671
(10,882)
‐
6,654

(1,758,306)
104,389
1,040,767
7,544
‐
‐

(326,880)
3,615
(38,182)
(900,907)

128,408
(2,779)
(39,727)
(519,704)
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Directors’ Declaration
The Directors of the Company declare that:
1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 13 to 48, are in accordance with the Corpo‐
rations Act 2001 and:
(a) comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy note 1 to the financial
statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Re‐
porting Standards (IFRS); and
(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 December 2013 and of the financial
performance for the year ended on that date of the company and consolidated group; and
2.

the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that:
(c)
(d)
(e)

3.

the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in
accordance with section 286 of the Corporation Act 2001;
the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Stand‐
ards; and
the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
Dated at Darwin this 28th day of March 2014
On behalf of the Board

Geoff Eupene
Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the members of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited, which comprises the
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013, the statements of comprehensive income, the statements of
changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the company and
the consolidated entity.
Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We
confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the
directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of
this auditor’s report.
Opinion
In our opinion:
the financial report of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(a)

(i)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31
December 2013 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b)

the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
as disclosed in Note 1.

Going Concern
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 "Going concern basis" which states that the directors are
investigating options raise additional funds and have reduced the working capital requirements of the business.
Should these measures be unsuccessful, it would indicate a material uncertainty which may cast doubt about the
consolidated entity's ability to continue as a going concern and the consolidated entity's ability to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2013.
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited for the year ended 31 December 2013
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

BDJ Partners Audit Pty Limited

...............................................
Anthony J Dowell
Director
28 March 2014
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Please refer to the website for our standard terms of engagement.

Auditor's Independence Declaration
To the directors of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited
As lead auditor for the audit of Crossland Strategic Metals Limited for the year ended 31 December
2013, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
i)
ii)

no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and
no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

BDJ Partners Audit Pty Limited

……………………………………………..
Anthony J Dowell
Director
27 March 2014
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Shareholder Information
Information relating to shareholders at 26 March 2013
Substantial Shareholders
Number of Shares
HK Rare Earth Sdn Bhd

%

40,000,000

19.265

Distribution of Ordinary Shareholders ‐Analysis of Holdings as at 24 March 2014
Security Classes
Fully Paid Ordinary

Holdings Ranges
1
‐
1,000
1,001 ‐
5,000
5,001 ‐
10,000
10,001 ‐
100,000
100,001>
Totals

Holders
62
192
208
607
250
1,319

Total Units
30,605
630,982
1,781,207
24,210,831
181,075,418
207,629,043

%
0.015
0.304
0.858
11.612
87.211
100.00

Top 20 Holdings of Ordinary Shares (CUX) as at 24 March 2014
Holder Name
HK RARE EARTH SDN BHD
GADEN NOMINEES PTY LTD <GADEN FAMILY A/C>
DIAH(NT) PTY LTD <AIRPORT HOTEL A/C>
EUPENE NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <EUPENE FAMILY SUPER A/C>
EXCESS PTY LTD <N J WALKER A/C>
MR CHRIS CONNELLAN < C A CONNELLAN S/F A/C>
ACN 108 884 779 PTY LTD <CLEARY FAMILY SUPER A/C>
EUPENE NOMINEES PTY LIMITED
KALE CAPITAL CORPORATION LTD
PANSTYN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED>
MR PETER WILLIAM WALKER
MR ARVID JOHN BUSKAS
MR ROBERT A CLEARY
ROSENTHAL HOLDINGS PTY LTD <PETER S ROSENTHAL FAMILY A/C>
MR RONALD GRAEME BROWN
KAPUTAR PASTORAL CO PTY LTD
MR PATRICK YENSON
PHILLIAN PTY LIMITED <AUSTEN FAMILY TRUST NO 1>
MR MALCOLM KEITH SMARTT & MS JANICE LEONIE SMARTT <SMART S/F A/C>

Total Shares on Issue

Shares
40,000,000
7,124,795
6,666,666
6,028,571
5,458,447
3,968,182
3,892,326
3,229,921
2,915,541
2,720,970
2,620,000
2,179,482
2,028,571
2,000,000
2,000,000
1,900,000
1,771,563
1,672,670
1,609,433
1,400,000

%
19.265
3.432
3.211
2.904
2.629
1.911
1.875
1.556
1.404
1.310
1.262
1.050
0.977
0.963
0.963
0.915
0.853
0.806
0.775
0.6740

101,187,139
207,629,043

48.735
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Unmarketable Parcels ‐ As at 24 March 2014 there were 877 shareholders with an unmarketable share
parcel of less than 50,000 shares at the prevailing share price of 1.0 cents.
Restricted Securities ‐ There are no restricted securities.
Voting Rights
There are no restrictions on voting rights. On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have
one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. Where a member holds shares which are not fully paid, the
number of votes to which that member is entitled on a poll in respect of those part paid shares shall be that fraction
of one vote which the amount paid up bears to the total issued price thereof. Option holders have no voting rights
until the options are exercised.
Dividends ‐ The Company has not paid any dividends in the period
Top 20 Holdings of Listed Options (CUXO) as at 24 March 2014 (Exercise 15 cents expiring 30 Nov 14)

Holder Name
EUPENE NOMINEES PTY LTD <EUPENE FAMILY SUPER A/C>
EXCESS PTY LIMITED <N J WALKER A/C>
SESNA PTY LTD
EUPENE NOMINEES PTY LIMITED
M & K KORKIDAS PTY LTD <M&K KORKIDAS P/L S/FUND A/C>
MR ARVID JOHN BUSKAS
MR PETER WILLIAM WALKER
WILLIAM GEOFFREY KROON
MR MALCOLM KEITH SMARTT & MS JANICE LEONIE SMARTT
<SMARTT S/F A/C>
MR KEVIN WAIDE
ROSENTHAL HOLDINGS PTY LTD <PETER S ROSENTHAL FAMILY A/C>
MR CECIL CLIVE BROWN & MRS JOY BROWN
BUDBERTH PTY LTD <IPSEITY S/F A/C>
MR BRIAN WILLIAM HAYES & MRS CONSTANT CLAIRE HAYES
MR DAVID GREGORY GREER
MR ROBERT LEWIS RICHARDSON & MS SUSANNE BRINT <THE
RATHROAM STAFF FUND A/C>
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
MR RONALD GRAEME BROWN
MR TERENCE ROBERT BROWN & MS KAYE MAREE GLOVER <KMG
SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C>
MR ANTHONY FRANCIS GREVE LE BRUN
Total of top 20 holders
Total number on issue

Holdings

%

3,014,285
2,729,223
2,000,000
1,614,960
1,570,070
1,247,619
1,089,741
1,000,000
1,000,000

8.473
7.672
5.622
4.542
4.413
3.507
3.063
2.811
2.811

800,000
666,667
650,000
600,000
545,796
545,000
522,619

2.249
1.874
1.827
1.687
1.534
1.532
1.469

500,000
500,000
500,000

1.405
1.405
1.405

500,000
21,595,980
35,574,642

1.405
60.706

Distribution of Option holders ‐Analysis of Holdings as at 25 March 2014
Security Classes
Fully Paid Ordinary

Holdings Ranges
1
‐
1,000
1,001 ‐
5,000
5,001 ‐
10,000
10,001 ‐
100,000
100,001>
Totals

Holders
11
41
36
121
64
273

Total Units
8,178
137,288
298,051
4,625,719
30,505,406
35,574,642

%
0.023
0.386
0.838
13.003
85.750
100.00
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Corporate Governance
Statement of Corporate Governance
Unless disclosed below, all the best practice recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council
have been applied for the entire financial year ended 31 December 2013.
Board Composition
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of each director who is in office at the date of
the annual report and their term of office are detailed in the directors’ report.
The names of independent directors of the company are:
Malcolm Smartt
Robert L Richardson
Peter Walker
When determining whether a non‐executive director is independent the director must not fail any of the
following materiality thresholds:
—
less than 10% of company shares are held by the director and any entity or individual directly or
indirectly associated with the director;
—
no sales are made to or purchases made from any entity or individual directly or indirectly associated
with the director; and
—
none of the directors’ income or the income of an individual or entity directly or indirectly associated
with the director is derived from a contract with any member of the economic entity other than
income derived as a director of the entity.
Independent directors have the right to seek independent professional advice in the furtherance of their
duties as directors at the company’s expense. Written approval must be obtained from the chair prior to
incurring any expense on behalf of the company.
The company does not have a formally constituted nomination committee.
Ethical Standards
The Board acknowledges and emphasises the importance of all directors and employees maintaining the
highest standards of corporate governance practice and ethical conduct.
Directors and employees are required to:
•
act honestly and in good faith;
•
exercise due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office;
•
avoid conflicts and make full disclosure of any possible conflict of interest;
•
comply with the law;
•
encourage the reporting and investigating of unlawful and unethical behaviour; and
•
comply with the share trading policy outlined in the Code of Conduct.
Directors are obliged to be independent in judgment and ensure all reasonable steps are taken to ensure
due care is taken by the Board in making sound decisions.
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Trading Policy
Directors, employees and associates must not engage in short term trading of Company Shares and should
not enter into any form of trading or dealing, or procure others to do so, under the following circumstanc‐
es:
1) if they are in possession of information which is not generally available (inside information) being
information which, if it were known and available might cause a reasonable person to expect that
the value of the Company and /or its shares to be affected;
2) during periods other than the nominated Trading Windows defined below
3) at all other times their intention to trade has been notified to, and approved by, the responsible
person in accordance with this Policy.
In the course of carrying out their duties, directors and employees often possess information which may be
regarded as inside information either specifically under terms of the Corporations Code, or more generally
by informed and ethical persons. By way of guidance such information could include, but would not be lim‐
ited to:


financial information of any type such as changes in operating forecasts, adjustments in capital or
capital structure, borrowings, liquidity or cash flow circumstances



information about material acquisitions or divestments by the Company



changes to the Board, Management or Auditors



regulatory decisions or significant litigation likely to affect the Company

Directors, employees and their associates may not trade or deal in Company Shares except in accordance
with the preceding paragraphs and only during Trading Window periods being those periods beginning 24
hours after lodgement of the Company’s half year and annual profit announcements, and concluding on the
date for closing of books for the next reporting period.
Except for the Trading Window periods described in the preceding paragraph, all other times are consid‐
ered to be “Closed Periods” in terms of Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rule 12.12.1 being those periods
when Directors, employees and their associates are generally prohibited from trading in the Company’s se‐
curities.
Before dealing in Company Shares, an intention to trade must be discussed with and approved
in the case of Directors, by the Chairman
in the case of the Chairman by an independent director
in the case of all other employees by a Director
In addition, Directors are obliged to inform the Company Secretary of any dealing in Company Shares in the
form required by the Corporations Act.
Employees who wish to trade outside the Trading Windows must obtain prior approval of the Board which
may, under exceptional circumstances, consider applications for exemption from compliance with this Poli‐
cy. The Board will exercise its unfettered discretion in deliberating the merits of each case and consent will
generally be provided only in cases of clear financial hardship.
In the context of this Policy, associates of employees include the spouse, partner, members of employee’s,
spouse’s or partner’s immediate families together with any third parties or entities controlled by the em‐
ployee or such associates including family trusts and personal superannuation schemes
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Audit Committee
The Directors have established an Audit Committee, which is comprised of Messrs RL Richardson, RA Cleary
and PW Walker, all of whom are Non‐Executive Directors and Mr MK Smartt, the company secretary. The
Audit Committee will have direct access to management and will meet periodically with the external
auditors to assess and review internal controls and the Company’s statutory reporting. Its activities will
assist in ensuring the independence of the external Auditors and provide ready access to the full Board.
Performance Evaluation
There has been no formal performance evaluation of the Board during the past financial year, although its
composition is reviewed at a Board meeting at least annually.
Board Roles and Responsibilities
The Board is first and foremost accountable to provide value to its shareholders through delivery of timely
and balanced disclosures.
The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring its actions are in accordance with key corporate governance
principles.
The functions of the Board include:
 review and approval of corporate strategies, the annual budget and financial and business plans;
 overseeing and monitoring organisational performance and the achievement of the Company’s
strategic goals and objectives thereby advancing the interests of the Shareholders and stakeholders;
 monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half‐year financial reports
and liaison with the Company’s auditor;
 appointment of and assessment of, the Chief Executive Officer and the members of the senior
management and technical teams;
 ensuring that there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate
initiatives;
 enhancing and protecting the reputation of the Company;
 ensuring the significant risks facing the Company and its controlled entity have been identified;
 appropriate and adequate control, monitoring and reporting mechanisms are in place;
 otherwise monitoring and reviewing the Company’s controls and systems including those concerned
with occupational health and safety and environment and human resource matters, so as to ensure
compliance with laws and the highest ethical standards; and
 ensuring that the Shareholders are appropriately informed of the progress of the Company.
Diversity Policy
The Company believes that the promotion of gender diversity on boards, in senior management and
within the organisation generally:
 broadens the pool for recruitment of high quality directors and employees;
 is likely to support employee retention;
 through the inclusion of different perspectives, is likely to encourage greater innovation;
and
 is socially and economically responsible governance practice.
Given the present size of the Company, there are no plans to establish measurable objectives for
achieving further gender diversity at this time. The need for establishing and assessing measurable objec‐
tives for achieving gender diversity will be re‐assessed as the size of the Company increases.
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Proportion of Women Employees ‐
2012

Percentage

Women on the Board

0

0%

Women in Senior Management Role

1

16%

Women Employees

2

20%

Shareholder Rights
Shareholders are entitled to vote on significant matters impacting on the business, which include the elec‐
tion and remuneration of directors, changes to the constitution and receipt of annual and interim financial
statements. Shareholders are strongly encouraged to attend and participate in the Annual General Meet‐
ings of Crossland Strategic Metals Ltd, to lodge questions to be responded by the Board and/or the CEO,
and are able to appoint proxies.
The Directors are keen to ensure that all Shareholders are kept fully informed. All announcements will be
available on the Company’s web site http://www.crosslanduranium.com.au after release to ASX.
Risk Management
The Board considers identification and management of key risks associated with the business as vital to
maximise shareholder wealth. An assessment of the business’s risk profile is undertaken on a regular basis
and is reviewed by the Board, covering all aspects of the business from the operational level through to
strategic level risks. The CEO has been delegated the task of implementing internal controls to identify and
manage risks for which the Board provides oversight. The effectiveness of these controls is monitored and
reviewed regularly.
Remuneration Policies
The remuneration policy sets the terms and conditions for the key management personnel All executives
receive a base salary, superannuation and retirement benefits. The Board reviews executive packages
annually by reference to company performance and executive performance. The policy is designed to attract
the highest calibre executives and reward them for performance which results in long‐term growth in
shareholder value.
Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements.
The amount of remuneration for all key management personnel for the company are detailed in the
directors report under the heading Key Management Personnel Compensation. All remuneration paid to
executives is valued at the cost to the company and expensed. Shares given to executives are valued as the
difference between the market price of those shares and the amount paid by the executive. Options are
valued using the Black‐Scholes methodology.
The Board expects that the remuneration structure implemented will result in the company being able to
attract and retain the best executives to run the consolidated group. It will also provide executives with the
necessary incentives to work to grow long‐term shareholder value.
The payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments are reviewed by the Board as part of the
review of executive remuneration and a recommendation is put to the Board for approval.
Remuneration Committee
The company does not have a formally constituted remuneration committee
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SCHEDULE 1 – TENEMENTS CURRENT
Project Area

Chilling

Tenement

Name / Loca‐
tion

EL 25076

Status

AREA (Km2) /
BLOCKS

17/09/14

369.89
(111 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Mines Pty Ltd

18/09/06

08/11/14

79.3
(24 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Mines Pty Ltd

09/11/06

Current

07/12/05

06/12/13

66.76 (20 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Mines Pty Ltd

Current

07/02/05

06/02/15

129.2
(41 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

Current

09/11/06

08/11/14

504.3
(178 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

29/08/15

396.7 (130 sub‐
blocks)

WDR Base Metals Pty Ltd

30/08/07
17/11/09

16/11/15

1,561
(500 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

17/11/09

16/11/15

Current.

EL 25077

Current
Litchfield
(NT)

Chilling

HOLDER /
Renewal
date

Allia
(NT)
Chilling

Date
Granted or
date Applied

EL 245571
Mt Thomas
(NT)

Charley
Creek

EL 242813

Charley
Creek

EL 25230

Charley
Creek

EL256574

Charley
Creek
Charley
Creek

Charley Creek
(NT)

Cockroach Dam
(NT)
Current
Cloughs Dam
(NT)
EL27283

EL27284

Charley
Creek

EL27358

Charley
Creek

EL27359

Mt Chapple
(NT)

Current

Mt Chapple
North
(NT)

781.35
(249 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

Current

Hamilton
Downs
(NT)

299.23
(95 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

Current

123
(39 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

191.47
blocks)

(76 sub

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

32.7
(14 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

50.4 (16 sub‐blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

122.9 (39 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd

Current

Current

27/07/17

381.1 (125 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%
Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Hamilton
Downs
North
(NT)
Hamilton
South1

17/11/09

16/11/15

Current
17/11/09

Charley
Creek

EL28154

Charley
Creek

EL28155

Hamilton
South2

Current

Charley
Creek

EL28224

Hamilton
North2

Current

Charley
Creek

EL28226

Hamilton
North3

16/11/15

Current
20/04/11

02/02/11

19/04/17

01/02/17

8/03/11

07/03/17

08/03/11

07/03/17

Charley
Creek
EL28434

APPLICANT

Hamilton
Homestead

28/07/11

Charley
Creek
EL28795

Amburla SE

Current

12/12/11

11/12/17

50.44 (16 sub‐
blocks)

Charley
Creek

EL28796

Amburla North

Current

12/12/11

11/12/17

255.74 (81 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Everard

Current

21/02/12

20/02/18

Charley
Creek

EL28866

56.71 (18 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%
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Mount Harris1

Current

26/07/12

25/07/18

788.62 (249 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Mount Harris2

Current

26/07/12

25/07/18

98.04
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

EL 29789

Mulga Bore

Granted

25/07/13

24/07/19

44.13 (14 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

EL 29853

Bond Springs

Grant
Pending

11/02/13

N/A

419.3 (133 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

334.3
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Charley
Creek

EL28964

Charley
Creek

EL28965

Charley
Creek
Charley
Creek
Charley
Creek

EL 30058

Milton Park

Application

06/08/13

(31 sub‐

(106 sub‐

N/A

Mount Staf‐
ford

861.92
(271 Sub blocks )

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

EL28492

Mount Stafford

Current

28/07/11

27/07/17

Mount Staf‐
ford

EL 29660

Ennungan
North

Application

10/09/12

N/A

365.88 (115 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Mount Staf‐
ford

EL 29758

Leichhardt

Granted

25/07/13

24/07/19

652.2 (210 sub‐
blocks)

Crossland Nickel Pty Ltd
50%/ Panconoz Pty Ltd
50%

Arunta

EL273735
Current

21/12/09

20/12/15

85.95 (27 sub‐
blocks)

Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

Bloodwood
Highland
Rocks1

Application
N/A

188.4 (59 sub‐
blocks)

Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

29/05/09

Highland
Rocks2

Application
N/A

377.3 (118 sub
blocks)

Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

29/05/09

Highland
Rocks3

Application
N/A

1087 (340 sub‐
blocks)

Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

25/08/09

Highland
Rocks4

Application
N/A

1052 (330 sub‐
blocks)

Paradigm Mexico Pty Ltd

25/08/09
29/3/12

28/3/14

125 km2

Platsearch NL

Kalabity
(SA)

Granted

Arunta

Arunta

Arunta

Arunta

EL273745,6

EL273755,6

EL275715,6

EL275725,6

EL 44617
Kalabity
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 3, 80 Arthur Street, North Sydney, NSW 2060
DARWIN EXPLORATION AND
ADMINISTRATION OFFICE
Suite 8 Raffles Plaza
1Buffalo Court
DARWIN NT 0800
Phone – 61 8 8981 5911
Fax – 61 8 8941 1364
Email: info@crosslandstrategic.com.au
Website: www.crosslandstrategic.com
ABN 64 087 595 980
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